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Day One








Prologue


Reston, Virginia,

Friday, October 26, 9:08 AM


THE PAYMASTER was opening his third pack of Marlboros when the phone rang. He dropped the cigarette pack on the desk. He’d been expecting the call, but still his fingers trembled nervously as he picked up the receiver.

“What!” he demanded.

The paymaster was sitting in a large, bare room in a slightly run-down industrial park outside Reston, Virginia. He was five feet six, bald, and soft looking. He wore a pale blue short-sleeved polyester shirt and a dark blue polyester necktie. The sign above the door of the office read GILLILAND PRODUCTS. What kind of products, the sign didn’t say. The paymaster had written a check in the amount of $936 to a graphic designer who wore too much hair gel to design the sign and another check in the amount of $458 to a painter to produce the sign itself. The paymaster remembered things like that—numbers, figures, amounts. That’s why he was good at his job. Gilliland Products had never had a customer or even a visitor during the entire year of its existence. In fact, when you got right down to it, there was no such thing as Gilliland Products at all. Just this seedy little office situated between a tae kwon do school and a nearly bankrupt caterer. The office contained one chair and one desk leased as a package from Staples ($27 a month), a low-end computer leased from Gateway ($48 a month), and one telephone equipped with the most sophisticated encryption available anywhere on the planet. The paymaster didn’t know how much the phone cost and didn’t care.

“It’s done,” the voice on the other end of the line said.

“And?”

“We’ve been over this before. Initiate the termination procedures and proceed to Location Alpha.”

“Roger that, Roger,” the paymaster said derisively, stealing a line from the movie Airplane.

“Look, you little weasel, how about I spell this out. You think you’re gonna pull a fast one, walk off with that hard drive? Uh-uh. If you don’t burn that hard drive along with everything else, I will bury you in a hole where they’ll never find you.”

Burn the hard drive. Yeah, right. The paymaster’s mama didn’t raise no fool. That hard drive was the paymaster’s ticket.

“Excuse me,” the paymaster said, “but I know the procedure. Okay? I wrote the procedure.” Which was a lie, of course. But who cared?

The paymaster slammed down the phone, finished opening his cigarette pack, lit up his forty-first Marlboro since he had come into the office the previous night. Then he took a Leatherman multitool out of his pocket and unscrewed the casing of the computer. Wouldn’t you know it: as usual, the hard drive was always buried in a completely inaccessible location. As a result the Leatherman was really not up to the job of getting the retaining screws out.

The paymaster was beginning to sweat, and the Marlboro had burned right down to his lip by the time he got the first two screws out of the mounting bracket. He tossed his cigarette butt on the floor, started working on the third screw. At which point, the Leatherman slipped, and he gashed his finger on the sheet metal. Blood started oozing from the wound. The paymaster didn’t like blood, it made him queasy. Which made him rush. Which made him careless. He stripped the fourth screw.

The hard drive hadn’t budged. He planted his foot against the side of the computer and yanked. The sheet metal mounting bracket gave way, and the hard drive popped right out in his hand.

He smiled, opened his briefcase, took the dummy hard drive out of its factory-sealed package, and slid it into the drive bay.

Only it didn’t fit because he’d ruined the mounting bracket getting the other one out.

He stared angrily at the offending hard drive. What was he going to do now?

Oh, for goodness sake! he thought. He was being paranoid. It’s not like they were going to check. He had been absurdly cautious as it was. He slid the dummy drive in as far as it would go, plugged in the wire harness, slid the case back onto the computer, tightened the screws, and walked out of the building with the hard drive bumping around in his otherwise empty briefcase.

He started the engine of his Lexus, dialed a number on his cell phone, punched in a code—his mother’s birthday as it happened—then backed out of his parking space.

He was halfway out of the parking lot when the first wisp of smoke began creeping out of a small black box mounted along the baseboard next to the desk he’d rented from Staples. By the time the paymaster’s Lexus reached I-66, the entire building was enveloped in flame.
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Camp David Presidential Retreat, Maryland

Forty-six Minutes Earlier


MICHAEL DELANEY sometimes had his doubts about people. But a gun? No doubts there. A gun would never lie to you, would never tell you it loved you and then leave you for somebody else, would never take your kids away, would never flatter you and then stab you in the back. You treated a gun right and it would be your friend forever.

Back in his drinking days, Delaney used to riff on this particular subject after he’d gotten eight or ten fingers of single malt in him. It had been kind of a joke, but kind of not.

But not now. Right now it was not funny at all.

Once you made friends with a gun, you knew that gun better than you knew your own brother. And the gun in his hand was a stranger.

 

JUST MINUTES EARLIER Secret Service Special Agent Michael Delaney had awakened to the irritating pulse of his alarm clock. Usually the clock was just a safety. Normally he woke up precisely ten minutes before he had to get up, a skill he’d developed back in the Special Forces, when snatching the maximum amount of sleep from a mission was nearly as important as knowing how to shoot your weapon.

Today, though, he woke with a fuzzy, aching head and a mild case of nausea. There had been a time when that happened a lot. But he hadn’t touched a drink in eighteen months. So there had to be another explanation.

Michael Delaney had been sleeping in Walnut, a small cottage in the staff area of the Camp David compound. The room looked like 1950—lots of dark wood, a brass lamp, twin bed, an ancient space heater humming under the frost-rimed window. Camp David had been hit with an unseasonably early snow the day before, and through the window he could see that more snow had hit the ground overnight. The tall black pines were heavy with white.

Delaney took a quick shower, started pulling on his clothes, and tried to replay the previous night’s events in his mind. He had a vague recollection that his team had been notified just before he went to bed that VPOTUS would be arriving for an AM meeting with POTUS. As a member of the presidential security detail, that meant a frenzied morning of work for Michael Delaney. Since 9/11 the already pressed Secret Service had found itself in a pressure cooker. Threats running the gamut from the usual kooks, to domestic terrorist organizations, all the way up to Al-Qaeda had increased alarmingly. The pace of the work seemed to grow more intense by the day.

Why was his memory so vague?

Someone was banging on the door. “Delaney!” It was Mark Greene, head of the presidential detail.

“I’m coming, I’m coming,” he called.

“WHMO just called. They’re pushing up the meeting to seven AM. Get a move on.”

Delaney grabbed his Uncle Mike holster, swung it over his shoulder, snapped the quick release buckles, then drew his Beretta 9 mm and pulled back the slide three-quarters of an inch. It was a mechanical routine that he went through every day of his life, checking to make sure a round was chambered.

Which is when the cold sweat hit him.

There was a round chambered, yes, the brass cartridge gleaming dully in the dim light of the cabin. But something wasn’t right. When you’d pulled back her slide, what, a thousand times, when you’d put ten or fifteen thousand rounds down her pipe, when you’d personally filed and sanded her sear and her trigger so she broke smooth and pure as the stem of a champagne flute, when you’d eased untold numbers of patches down her bore, spoiled her with several gallons of Hoppe’s #9, when she’d led you unerringly to the X ring more times than you could count…well, you knew her. You just did.

And the sticky, nasty, crunchy, grabby action of this gun’s slide? No. Absolutely not. It was not his weapon. The action of the Beretta in his hand was strictly factory.

More banging on the door. “Delaney! Now!”

When Delaney tried to pierce the fuzz in the back of his mind in order to come up with an explanation of how this fresh-out-of-the-box hunk of steel had ended up in his holster, he drew an absolute and complete blank.

“Now!”

There was no good reason why somebody else’s weapon was in his holster. But there was no time to think. It would come to him in a minute—there had to be a rational explanation, didn’t there?—and then when things slowed down later in the shift, he would get the matter squared away.

He charged out the door, found Mark Greene standing in the snow. Greene, a smart, smooth-talking veteran of the Secret Service, stood in the snow outside the cabin.

For a moment Delaney considered telling him about the strange weapon switch, but Greene spoke first. “You’re running late. I’ll shadow POTUS. Take one of the guys from uniform and run the perimeter.”

Ordinarily doing a perimeter check in calf-high snow would have been anything but welcome. But today Delaney was glad for the opportunity to try and get a handle on what had happened the previous night. The good news was that nothing ever happened at Camp David. Several years earlier, a couple of bored sentries had taken a potshot at an eight-point buck, setting off a mad scramble by the Secret Service—but that was about as exciting as it got.

The snow had stopped falling in the Catoctin Mountains sometime in the night, but the six-inch blanket of white deadened the sound of the forest around them. The Camp felt unnaturally still and silent. Delaney trudged quickly past the presidential lodge. The lights were on, and through the window he caught a brief glimpse of the man himself, peering out the window. Delaney was struck by the president’s grim expression. President Fairbank was usually upbeat and cheerful—almost inhumanly so—and so the dour, apprehensive look on his face was surprising. The curtain fell back, and Fairbank disappeared.

Delaney proceeded another fifty yards along the path until he reached Elm, a small cabin that was serving as a temporary command post for the Secret Service. There he found two supervisors from the uniform division behind a security video console.

Despite its rustic appearance, Camp David was crammed with state-of-the-art electronic security features. In addition to several hundred marines available for sentry duty and a phalanx of Secret Service agents, four squads of navy antiterrorism units were on standby, just a three-minute chopper ride from a nearby facility. Hidden in the trees and the rocky ground of the compound were motion detectors, cameras, and a host of other sensors. To protect from an air attack, a phased array radar system tracked flights in the vicinity, its signals linked to two batteries of Patriot surface-to-air missiles. Portable Stinger missiles were also kept at fingertip readiness.

Delaney informed the duty officer of his assignment.

“Take Harrison.” The duty officer, a red-faced Texan, pointed his thumb at a burly African-American named Blip Harrison who was nursing a cup of coffee over in the corner of the room.

“Anything I should keep an eye out for?”

The duty officer shrugged. “Other than snow ninjas?”

“Meaning what?” Delaney said.

“This doggone snow,” the duty officer said irritably. “It’s weighing down the branches of all these pine trees, then the branches break and fall down, and the motion sensors go nuts. We’ve had nine false alarms since midnight.”

“You’re sure they’re false alarms?” Delaney said. The appearance of the strange pistol in his holster had him on edge.

The operator gave him a hard look. “Of course we are. We sent a team out every time. No footprints, no nothing.”

There was a certain amount of resentment toward Delaney on the presidential detail. Delaney had once been a rising star in the Service and leader of the vice presidential detail—before the incident which almost destroyed his career—and some of the middle rankers felt Delaney thought he was too big for his boots.

“Ready, Blip?” Delaney said.

Blip Harrison, the burly black Secret Service agent, rose and headed silently for the door. Built solid and straight, he was one of the best in the division. His friends called him Blip because he had spent time in the navy as a radar technician.

The two headed out of the cabin and walked east along a wide and rocky path, then made their way through a cluster of hardwood trees. They caught a glimpse of a whitetail running off into the trees, nostrils steaming in the frigid air. In the distance they heard the thump-thump of helicopter blades, signaling the arrival of the vice president.

For the next twenty minutes the two men trekked through the woods of fir, poplar, and pine, following the route that George Bush Sr. used to jog. The trail took them along the perimeter of the 125-acre retreat near where Jimmy Carter used to ski and along the twenty-foot-high chain-link fence topped with razor wire that encircled the compound. They passed by the helicopter landing pad where the vice president’s helicopter, Marine Corp Two, was now standing, then headed down the horse trail built during the 1980s to accommodate Ronald Reagan’s love of riding.

Delaney made conversation with the genial Harrison, gently probing to see if the uniformed agent could shed any light on what, if anything, had happened to Delaney the night before. Delaney was concerned about the possibility—however distant—that he had drunk so much that he’d blacked out. He’d had more than a couple of blackout drunks in his life, though not for a long time. Harrison, however, didn’t indicate that anything unusual had taken place the night before.

By seven-fifteen the sun was peeking over the eastern lip of the Catoctin Mountains, bathing the woods in a golden light, and Delaney still was no closer to figuring out the mystery of the strange gun under his coat than he had been half an hour earlier. It was a glorious morning, and everything along the southern perimeter appeared to be secure. As the duty officer had said, falling branches cracked and thumped occasionally in the woods. But other than that, the air was silent.

The two men looped back through a thicket of hedge growth and headed back toward Aspen Lodge.

Suddenly a loud crack echoed through the woods.

The two men froze.

“That wasn’t a branch,” Delaney said. The blood was hammering in his temples, and instinctively he had the Beretta out in his hand. The butt felt unfamiliar, crude.

Crack! Crack! Crack! Crack!

“Condition red!” Delaney screamed into his wrist mic. “Shots fired! Condition red! We’re two hundred yards from the putting green.”

Harrison, too, had a Beretta in his hand. The two men began running toward the putting green. Harrison—younger and faster—took the lead. The two men crashed pell-mell through the thick, snow-covered undergrowth. Delaney’s lungs burned as he sucked in the frigid air. And then they were bursting into the clear.

When he reached the putting green he saw four men in the pure white snow. Three men were on the ground. Only one was moving. One, a tall gray-haired man, lay motionless, his head surrounded by a corona of melting crimson snow.

“POTUS is hit!” Delaney screamed into his microphone. In the heat of the moment he broke radio code. “My God, the president is down!”
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Somewhere in Eastern North Carolina

9:06 AM


MARY HAD BEEN secured to the chair with duct tape for over an hour. Despite the fact that the cinder block room was cold and drafty, its windows shattered by gunfire, she was drenched in sweat. Two unkempt men wearing heavy beards were slouched on the far side of the room. Both wore Soviet-era Makarovs in low-slung black nylon holsters on their hips, and both carried AK-47 knockoffs—Chinese-made she guessed—and both smelled like they hadn’t taken a bath in several months. They were virtually indistinguishable except for the color of their beards: one was brown, the other black. Lying on the floor on top of a dirty sleeping bag was a girl in her twenties. Her hair was tangled, and she had a tattoo of an eyeball on the back of her neck. During the time that Mary had been in the room, the girl had never moved.

Mary was a tall woman, with glossy black hair, strikingly high cheekbones, full lips, and brown eyes that were just a hair too far apart. Beneath her sober blue dress she had the slim body of a woman who trained regularly at the gym.

Her purse lay on the floor next to her feet, some of its contents spilling out onto the dusty concrete. The men in the room apparently did not know much about her. They had underestimated her drastically—so badly, in fact, they hadn’t even checked her purse. What she knew, but the two terrorists didn’t, was that her purse contained a titanium-framed Smith & Wesson .38 with a shrouded hammer.

“How long are we looking at here, guys?” Mary said. She had been coughing, talking, moving around in her chair the whole time she had been restrained. Anything she could think of to keep the two men from noticing that she’d spent the past hour slowly rubbing the duct tape around her wrists against a rough weld bead on the back of her metal chair. She was almost free now.

The two surly, stinking men ignored her.

“Seriously,” she said. “I need to get back to the White House by this afternoon.”

One of the men eyed her briefly and smirked. “Should I hit her in the head, Ray?” he said to the other man.

“Good gracious me!” the other said, with mock politeness. “It would be unchivalrous to hit a lady.”

“What you’re suggesting is, I should shoot her in the head.”

“Precisely!” the other one said. They both had strong southern accents, and both seemed to find themselves very amusing. One of them wore a T-shirt that read WHITE POWER on the front. A soft scuffling noise outside the building, like a small rodent moving in the leaves outside, interrupted their conversation. The two men immediately stopped laughing and peered out the window.

“Anything?” the taller of the two said.

The other shook his head, but they kept their eyes glued to the window. On the floor the girl with the tattoo still hadn’t moved. Mary flexed her wrists, and the last shred of duct tape came free. She felt a burst of excitement as she leaned forward and scooped up the Smith in her purse. Unfortunately, as she was pulling the pistol out of the purse, the front sight snagged on her keys, which jingled loudly.

The two men whipped around, pointing their weapons at her. She had managed to get her hands back behind her just in the nick.

“What was that?” one of them said.

“I just kicked my purse,” she said.

The man with the black beard stared at her, eyes narrowed. “I don’t think so, sweetie,” he said. “Your feet are duct-taped to the chair.”

He had taken one step toward her when the door blew in.

With blinding speed, four men—all wearing black Kevlar from head to toe—burst into the room. There was a sudden explosion of automatic weapons fire and shell casings pinged off the floor. Mary sized them up immediately. They all carried Heckler and Koch MP5SDs—the suppressed model—so the noise of the submachine guns inside the tiny room wasn’t quite as ear-splitting as it otherwise would have been.

The two bearded men fell to the floor and didn’t move again.

“Secure!” one of the men yelled.

“Are you all right, ma’am?” one of the black-clad men said, pulling up his ballistic mask so she could see his face. He was obviously the Delta team leader, a young man of about thirty, probably of Latin American extraction. “Sorry about all this…” He waved vaguely around the room.

The other men were pointing weapons at the girl on the floor.

“Guys!” Mary said, pointing at the girl. “Behind you!”

The team leader whirled. At which point Mary pulled the gun from behind her back and fired five quick shots through the broken window.

The Delta team members turned back toward her, eyes wide, ears ringing from the sound of the unsuppressed revolver.

“Never assume, fellows,” she said. “Never assume. I’m a pretty fair shot. I’d have killed at least three of you. Maybe all four.”

“But…” The team leader blinked, tried to find some words in response.

“Captain,” she said. “You were told that an exercise would be conducted with some high-muckety-muck jerk from the White House posing as a hostage, correct? So you busted in the door, assumed the woman in the power suit was from the White House, and so you didn’t bother checking me for weapons. Just like your two bad guys over there didn’t bother to frisk me, because they assumed that this was a silly put-on and therefore I wouldn’t be armed. Never assume.”

The two “white supremacist terrorists,” a pair of Special Forces men recently back from a tour in the Middle East sat up, shaking their heads sheepishly.

“I’m sorry, ma’am,” the Delta team leader said. He looked like he’d been punched in the stomach.

“Sorry? Why do I care if you’re sorry. Just do it right next time. Now would somebody cut this duct tape off my ankles?”

Just then the XO of First Special Forces Operational Detachment Alpha, Lieutenant Colonel Jimmy Barger, walked in the door with a cell phone in his hand. “It’s for you,” he said, holding out the phone to Mary. “Urgent. From the White House.”

She took the phone and answered. Her ears were still ringing from the sound of the gunfire and she couldn’t quite make out what the voice on the other end was saying.

“Come again?” she said. Then her eyes widened. “I’ll be there in an hour, sir,” she said.

“Exercise over, guys,” she snapped. Then she pulled off her high-heeled shoes with one hand, hiked up her skirt a couple of inches with the other hand, and began sprinting barefoot down the hallway. The seven soldiers in the room stared after her like they had just witnessed an alien landing.

“Who was that chick?” one of two bearded men said.

“That ‘chick’ is the president’s foremost expert on terrorism,” Barger said. “Her name is Mary Campos. But next time you see her, I’d advise you to address her as ‘Colonel.’ ”

“Aw, man!” one of the Delta Force operators said. “That’s cheating. That’s totally cheating.”
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Camp David

9:07 AM


WE NEED NIGHTHAWK ONE! We need Nighthawk One!” screamed Blip Harrison into his wrist mic, calling for the Marine Corp One helicopter.

Delaney reached the four men in the center of the putting green. President Fairbank lay flat on the ground, two holes in his chest, one in the throat just below his jaw, weakly spurting arterial blood. Delaney had seen enough gunshot victims in his life to know the president wasn’t going to make it, not with his carotid artery ripped in half.

Sitting on the ground five feet away was Vice President Boyd, clutching his side, grimacing with pain. Harrison tried to calm the vice president as more Secret Service agents poured onto the lawn, setting up a human shield around them. Two navy medics arrived. One was pressing a bandage against the unconscious president’s neck while the other began ripping off the vice president’s shirt.

“Where’s the shooter?” Delaney yelled. “Where’s the shooter?”

“The shooter’s down!” Mark Greene screamed, clutching his pistol and pointing at the third body on the ground. “The SOB just appeared! How did he get here? How did he get the gun?”

The prone, lifeless shooter was a red-haired man who wore what appeared at first glance to be a Secret Service uniform, but as Delaney got closer it became obvious it was just a rented police costume from a costume shop, slightly modified to match the Secret Service uniform. The badge on his chest was plastic. The red-haired man on the ground had been shot three times in the face. There was not much left of the back of his head.

“Nice shooting,” Delaney said.

The chief of the security detail shook his head. “A little late, though, huh?” he said disgustedly.

Suddenly Michael Delaney was aware of the thump of rotor blades above him. Marine Corps One touched down about twenty yards away. The navy medics picked up the president’s body and carried it to the helicopter, then escorted the pain-wracked vice president after them.

“Delaney, Harrison, Becker!” Greene shouted. “In the chopper with me! Mendez, pull everybody the hell back, and secure the scene. Don’t touch anything!”

“Where’s the shooter’s weapon?” Agent Mendez yelled over the deafening noise of the chopper.

“Right there!” Delaney pointed to a pistol in the snow near the body of the shooter. “Don’t touch it. It’s evidence. Leave it for the FBI!” Before he was able to drop his hand, the chopper began to lift off the ground. Only seconds into the air, a gust of wind hit them, and the chopper yawed left, driving them directly over the blood-spattered snow where the three men had been shot.

There in the snow lay the shooter’s weapon, not eight feet from Michael Delaney’s perch in the doorway of the chopper. This time he had a better look at it than he had from the ground. The weapon had an inch-wide silver gash in the dark metal of the receiver. Somebody had obviously filed off the serial number. Michael Delaney stared at the gun in horror. The worn bluing on the receiver, the distinctively shaped custom-made burgundy Micarta grips—he knew them like an old friend.

The file-marked gash on the side didn’t hide the obvious: it was Delaney’s own Beretta.

 

STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE said that if both the president and vice president were injured, the president went to Walter Reed Army Medical Center, and the vice president went to Bethesda Naval Medical Center. But the injured vice president, Morgan Boyd, had insisted on accompanying the president, and soon they were airborne, heading for the naval hospital in Bethesda.

Delaney couldn’t raise much interest in this breach of protocol. He was feeling light-headed, sick with apprehension. It didn’t take a genius to see where things were heading: it was no accident that somebody else’s pistol was in his holster this morning. Somebody was trying to frame him. But there was nothing he could do about it now.

The chopper headed at maximum speed toward the hospital, landing on the roof. Delaney lost track of the vice president as, gun drawn, he followed the president’s gurney down a long hallway toward a pair of double doors. No one spoke other than the doctor and the navy medic, who held a brief whispered conversation. The president hadn’t moved in fifteen minutes.

The attendant wheeled the gurney through the final doorway into an operating room.

“That’s as far as you go, gentlemen,” the doctor said to the Secret Service agents.

Agent Mark Greene pushed into the operating room anyway. “You can forget that, Doctor,” he snapped.

“This is a sterile environment,” the doctor said. “Do you want to be responsible for giving the president of the United States a life-threatening infection?”

“You do your job, we’ll do ours.”

The doctor scowled. Eyeing the ring of armed men around him, he apparently decided that this was an argument he was not going to win. He took his stethoscope from around his neck, listened for a heartbeat, performed a few other rudimentary tests, then shook his head. The doctor looked around the room at the faces staring at him, then at his watch. In a matter-of-fact voice, he said, “Time of death, 9:37 AM.”
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Headquarters, XVIII Airborne Corps,

Fort Bragg, North Carolina

9:41 AM


WHEN THE PHONE RANG, General Bill Fairbank, commander of the army corps that included the 82nd and 101st Airborne, was sitting behind his large mahogany desk reviewing the latest intelligence summary from the 313th Military Intelligence Battalion. A large American flag with battle streamers attached hung beside him next to a photo of Jumpin’ Jim Gavin, the legendary commander of the 82nd during World War II.

General Fairbank frowned. The phone that had just rung was not the office phone, but the secure line. It was reserved for the use of the president or the secretary of defense. You didn’t call on that phone to talk about your golf game. It was strictly for emergencies.

“Fairbank,” the general growled. He was a big, hard-faced man whose harsh voice betrayed the signs of thirty years of cigar smoke.

“General Fairbank, this is Morgan Boyd.”

“Yes, Mr. Vice President.”

“General, I’m calling from Bethesda Naval Medical Center…”

A sudden sense of dread ran through Fairbank’s brain. Fairbank was not a man given to ominous feelings—but there was only one reason the vice president could be calling from that particular hospital.

“General, your brother has been shot.”

Anyone sitting in the room with him would have had no indication that he had just received even the most insignificant bad news. “What’s the prognosis?”

There was a brief silence on the line. “I’m afraid he didn’t make it, General.”

Fairbank nodded. “I understand.”

“You’ll be getting the official word from SECDEF any moment, but I wanted this to come straight from me. This appears to have been a terrorist action. Recent intel suggests there’s more to come. As a result I’m raising us to Defcon Three.” Boyd paused. “General, I know this is a difficult time for you and your mind is likely to be on family rather than war making. But for the moment I’m asking you to put that aside for the good of your country. I’m ordering the immediate deployment of elements from the Eighty-second Airborne. This was an attempt to decapitate the American leadership, General.”

Fairbank considered the matter for a moment. “Deployed where, sir?”

“Orders will follow. I was hit, myself. I’ve got to meet with the cabinet, and after that I’m going into surgery. By the time I come out of the OR, I expect you to be saddled up and ready to roll. Is that clear?” There was neither a hint of sympathy nor of self-pity in his voice. Like Fairbank, Morgan Boyd was known as a man of legendary self-control.

“I’ll have two battalions ready within six hours.”

“I know you will,” Boyd said. Then the phone went dead.

Bill Fairbank set the phone down gently and stared at the wall for a while. He hadn’t spoken to his brother for years without the conversation ending up in a fight. They didn’t like each other much. But still…They were brothers. For a moment his mind drifted blankly. His older brother, Dean, had been a shadow under which he had stood all his life. It seemed impossible that in an instant that shadow had simply been snuffed out.

“Pull it together,” he growled softly. Then he stood up and grabbed his holstered 1911 out of the bottom drawer of his desk, started strapping it around his waist. The familiar weight of the weapon made him feel better, like the world was coming back into his control again.

“Sergeant Finley!” he yelled. “Get your flabby tail in here! We got work to do!”
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Bethesda Naval Medical Center

10:02 AM


WE’RE READY, Mr. Vice President,” Delaney said calmly. “The building is secure.”

The vice president of the United States was a small man with dark hair, a long thin blade of a nose, and intense black eyes. Though he never mentioned the fact in his biography, he had spent most of his life in pain, the result of being thrown from a horse when he was in his teens. Morgan Boyd had grown up on a hardscrabble ranch in Montana—but unlike many politicians similarly situated, he never appeared in public in a cowboy hat and boots, never made a show of his hardscrabble roots, didn’t affect the aw-shucks homespun image of a rancher’s son. Morgan Boyd had hated every minute of his childhood. He had hated the cold, had hated the wind, had hated the frozen toes and the barbed-wire cuts on his hands, had hated everything about cows, from their smell to the vapid expression of their eyes. He had gotten a scholarship to Harvard at age sixteen and never looked back, becoming a political science professor by the time he was twenty-five, returning in his thirties to his home state to head the Political Science department at the University of Montana. According to legend he had worn a suit and a bow tie every single day of his life since he joined the faculty of U of M. In the past twenty-five years—so it was claimed—he had not taken a single vacation, had not walked a golf course, gone for a dip in the pool, or showed up for a photo op wearing a ten-gallon hat. He’d put on the suit and bow tie and never looked back.

Tiring of the posturing and lack of practicality he saw around him in academia, he ran for office, where he could put his ideas into practice. His drive, his intellect, and above all his indomitable will had eventually led him to the Senate. By western standards he was relatively liberal, using a jerry-built coalition of hard-pressed ranchers and college-town environmentalists to bull his way into office. He had been chosen as Fairbank’s running mate, not because of any personal warmth between the two men, but to add a more liberal face to the ticket of the more conservative Texan, Fairbank. The rumors, Delaney knew, were that Fairbank had quickly grown to detest the vice president and had done everything he could to keep him out of the White House loop.

“Sir?” Delaney repeated. “We’re ready.”

“I heard you, Agent Delaney,” Boyd said. He stood slowly, his face taut with pain. He was still wearing the now-tattered white shirt he’d been wearing when he was shot. “I was just thinking.”

Delaney didn’t reply.

“We’ve been through a few things together, haven’t we?” the vice president said.

They did, in fact, have a history. “Yes, Mr. Vice President.”

“When is this insanity going to stop?”

Delaney shook his head. “I don’t know, sir.”

Boyd reached out and put his hand on Delaney’s shoulder. “Men like you, throwing yourself in front of bullets for the greater good, that’s an honorable and extraordinary thing.”

“Thank you, Mr. Vice President, but it looks like you’re the one who took the bullet this time.”

“That may be. But I just want you to know that your sacrifice doesn’t go unnoticed by me.”

Delaney held up his left hand. On his wrist was an inscribed gold watch which had been presented to him by the vice president two years earlier. “You’ve made that very clear, sir.”

Boyd’s press secretary cleared his throat. “Mr. Vice President? Chief Justice Potter is downstairs with the press.”

Boyd nodded, released his hold on Delaney’s shoulder. They headed for the elevator at the end of the hallway. Delaney was struck once again by how small and twisted the man looked. On camera he seemed a commanding presence, but when he moved he looked like a man who barely had the strength to get out of bed. But he refused assistance. He may have been a hard man to like, but he was impossible not to admire.

“The cabinet is gathering in the Situation Room,” the press secretary said. “We’ll go from this press conference back to the White House.”

“No, there’s still a bullet in me. They’ve got to get it out.”

The press secretary cleared his throat. He was obviously concerned about who would make presidential decisions should any be required. “Ah, how long before the anesthesia wears off?”

“I won’t be using anesthetic,” Boyd said. The doors to the elevator opened, and they walked out into the glare of cameras. Boyd straightened, buttoned the jacket of his suit, and strode forward into the lights of the waiting cameras. His chin was high, his jaw firm, his eyes clear.

Without waiting for an introduction, he walked to the clump of microphones. He stood motionless for close to thirty seconds, no doubt waiting for the New York anchors to stop their facile analyses of the situation and cut to the live feed from the hospital. It was impossible to miss the red stain on his collar.

Finally he spoke: “At thirty-two minutes past eight this morning, an act of supreme treachery and shocking brutality was committed against this nation. In a clear act of terrorism, the president of the United States, Dean Fairbank, was assassinated.” He stared stoically into the camera. “I am here to assure every American that in keeping with the United States Constitution, I will now be assuming the duties of president. In order to assure that this threat against our nation and our way of life is met with maximum resistance, I have already initiated Continuity of Government procedures, which will assure the American people and the world that our way of life will be preserved. Chief Justice of the Supreme Court Jack Potter is here to swear me into office.”

He turned to his left, and a distinguished-looking white-haired man in a judicial robe stepped forward and held out a worn black leather-covered Bible. Boyd faced him, placing one hand on the Bible, wincing almost imperceptibly.

Justice Potter began to speak. “Please repeat after me, ‘I, Morgan Boyd, do solemnly swear that I will faithfully execute…’ ” Thirty-five words later, in a ceremony unchanged for two centuries, Morgan Boyd became the president of the United States.

Boyd turned back to the cameras as Justice Potter stepped aside. “President Fairbank was a great man, who served his country with intense dedication for more than two decades.” He seemed to be keeping his emotions in check only with steely determination. “But now is not the time for eulogies. Now is the time for action. I have been advised by senior security officials that this assassination may have been part of a broader—and still unfolding—conspiracy designed to destabilize and perhaps even bring down our government.”

Michael Delaney was not so busy scanning the room for additional assassins that he didn’t frown in puzzlement at this last statement. Senior security officials? What senior security officials? He had been with Boyd during the entire past hour, and there hadn’t been a senior security official in sight.

“Therefore, in keeping with my constitutional obligation to protect the integrity of this nation, I am declaring a temporary state of emergency to stabilize the situation. Under the implied powers of Article Two of the Constitution, I will be authorizing the temporary deployment of United States military forces to the nation’s capital to deter any other attacks from occurring. Additional security, police, and judicial measures will be taken on an as-needed basis.”

He paused, then glared at the camera. “This attack on Dean Fairbank is an attack on each and every American. So as an elected representative of every American, let me address these cowards directly. The man you sent to kill the president is lying in the snow in a pool of his own blood. The same fate awaits anyone who attacks the American people. Our government and our system is bigger than any one man. Bigger than me, bigger than Dean Fairbank. The continuity of our government will be preserved. But make no mistake, that doesn’t get you off the hook. I will hunt you down and I will bring you to justice. If you think you can tear down the greatest nation in the world, I say to you this: over my dead body!”

With that he ripped open his suit coat, revealing to the world for the first time that he too had been shot. Even the hardened journalists gasped at the blood-soaked bandages around his waist.

“Over my dead body!” the president of the United States repeated. His black eyes stared into the camera for a ten count, then he whirled and headed back toward the elevator.

Once safely inside the elevator, Boyd turned to his press secretary. “Well?” the new president said.

“Over my dead body!” the press secretary said unctuously. “That was beyond presidential. That was a brilliant, brilliant touch.”

“If you think I was grandstanding,” Boyd said, “then you don’t have the vaguest understanding of the kind of man you’re working for.”

The press secretary flushed. “I’m sorry, sir. I wasn’t thinking.”

Atlanta, Georgia

10:02 AM

A brown panel truck with the markings of a major shipping company pulled up in front of the concrete safety barrier outside the Richard B. Russell Federal Courthouse on Spring Street. A smiling young man in a brown jumpsuit hopped out of the driver’s seat.

A security guard carrying an M-16 immediately rushed over to him. Word of the assassination having spread through the country, security at all federal facilities was running at peak readiness. “Sir, you can’t park here.”

The brown-clad young man smiled affably. “Hey, I just left my hand truck across the street. Lemme grab it, I’ll be out of here.”

The security guard shook his head. “No, sir. Get back in your vehicle right now.”

“Oh, lighten up,” the delivery man said. “Won’t take me thirty seconds.”

The security guard would have none of it. He raised his weapon at the man in the brown jumpsuit. “Now, sir. Remove your vehicle.”

The man in brown backed up a step. “Hey, easy does it, cowboy! I’ll move!” He turned slowly as though to get back in the truck, then with an unexpected flash of speed, he whirled back toward the guard. But now there was a suppressed SIG-Sauer 9 mm in his hand. He fired two shots in such quick succession that they were almost indistinguishable. The guard fell like a marionette with its strings cut, two small holes just above the bridge of his nose.

“Hey!” The brown-clad young man yelled, tossing his pistol in the truck. “Somebody help this man.”

A crowd quickly gathered. The young man in the brown uniform slipped through them and began jogging quickly up the street, turning the corner and heading south. He had just made it up to Peachtree Street when the sound of the explosion hit him. He was surprised at the force. It nearly took the breath out of him.

He pulled off his brown uniform, which had been secured with Velcro tabs, tossed it in a trash can. He was now wearing a suit from Brooks Brothers. In the confusion no one noticed as he climbed into a white Ford Econoline van that pulled up briefly at the curb and then sped off.

White Sands Missile Test Facility,

White Sands, New Mexico

10:11 AM

The black Chevy 2500 dualie with the camper shell pulled over to the side of the road next to a large, rusting chain-link fence. Plastered to the fence were faded signs suggesting that scaling the fence would be unwise.

Two young men of military bearing climbed out of the truck, pulled the camper shell off the back, dumped it into the ditch. They both wore surgical gloves so as not to leave fingerprints. The thing that reared up out of the back of the truck with a soft, motorized hum looked like a couple of long black toolboxes. But to the trained eye, it was recognizable as a Soviet-era GP-64 rocket launcher. The two men then heaved a large piece of half-inch steel plate up from the rear of the pickup truck, propped it behind the two tubes, where it would act as a blast baffle. The two men then crouched behind the truck.

“Countdown. Ten, nine, eight—” the taller of the two men said.

“Screw that,” the shorter man said. “Fire in the hole!” He then pressed a red button on a small black box clutched in his hand.

The rocket launcher let out one deafening howl, then a second. Two stubby rockets armed with four kilos of C-4 apiece went streaking into the sky toward a distant cluster of buildings shimmering on the horizon of the striking expanse of dead-flat desert. The launcher hummed as it lowered itself back onto the bed of the truck.

“Forty-eight seconds,” the tall man said. “That’s our best time yet.”

They had been practicing the op for over a month, shaving second after second from the drill. Only this time it wasn’t a drill.

The V-10 engine growled angrily as they tore off down the highway. By the time the two hollow booms marked the impact of the rockets, the heavily modified Chevy was doing 130 miles an hour.

“We hit it?” the tall man said.

The shorter man shrugged. “Who cares? We’re just sending a message.”
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Bethesda Naval Medical Center

10:23 AM


AS THE DOORS of the elevators opened, Delaney was met by the face of Mark Greene, head of the presidential detail.

“You can stand down, Delaney,” he said. “You’re needed back at HQ for a debriefing. The FBI wants to talk to you.”

“What about you?” Delaney said. “You heading back too?”

“That’s not your concern,” Greene snapped. “Go down to the lobby. Agent Rankin is waiting. He’ll drive you.” He turned toward Boyd. “This way, Mr. President.”

Greene led the president down the hallway toward the operating room where the bullet still lodged in his side was to be removed.

Delaney walked down the hallway toward the stairs. He could have taken the elevator, but he needed time to think. Halfway down the staircase to the ground floor his knees suddenly felt so weak that he had to sit down. For the past hour he had been so busy he’d had no time to think. But now the enormity of the situation was beginning to sink it. His gun. His gun. It kept running through his mind, the vision of his Beretta lying there in the snow next to the dead men. How soon would it take before they traced it back to him?

Records on every single weapon owned or carried by members of the Secret Service were kept at headquarters. Filing off the serial number was pointless. It was intended to make it look like he’d made a crude attempt to hide the identity of his own weapon. But the FBI would use X-ray crystallography to dope out the serial number from the underlying steel. And if that didn’t work, they’d use ballistic printing. Every weapon used by the Secret Service had been entered into a database of ballistic “prints” that stored the distinctive markings imparted by the bore to the bullets the gun fired.

The filed-off serial number would buy him some time. But not much.

He felt a vibration from his secure pager.

 

000076587 EAGLE EN ROUTE TO GOLD DOME 10:25 AM

00076588 DELANEY CONTACT HQ ASAP

 

Gold Dome was the day code for the White House. If he was still getting pager updates about the president’s whereabouts, that meant they had not drawn any connection yet.

He put the pager back on his belt, pulled out his Nokia cell phone, speed-dialed a number.

“Blip? Delaney. Where are you?”

“Back at HQ. Is this line secure?”

“No. What are you hearing down there?”

“It’s crazy. They’re starting to debrief.”

“Any ID on the shooter?”

“No. FBI, Secret Service, and Justice are all down here right now. Everybody’s tripping all over each other. This is going to be a jurisdictional nightmare. Anyway, they’re still trying to piece together the timeline.”

“How’d the guy get in?”

“Better yet, how’d the gun get in?” Harrison said. He cleared his throat. “Ah, I can’t really say on this line what we know about the guy. But it looks like he got in using some very sophisticated MilSpec stuff. Have you heard of IR countermeasure suits?”

Delaney whistled. “Chill suits? The guy had a chill suit? That stuff’s strictly SpecOps.”

There was a long pause. “Look, ah, tread softly, Mike. I don’t know why, but everybody’s looking at me cross-eyed right now. Like I’m a suspect or something. They even took my duty weapon and my credentials.”

“Hang tight,” Delaney said. “You didn’t do anything wrong.”

Delaney slapped the phone shut and ran his fingers through his hair. The assassination was now receding slightly as he began to consider his own fate. He’d been set up, no question. Whoever had taken his gun was an inside operator—very likely a fellow Secret Service agent. It didn’t make sense that an unidentified person—even one dressed in an imitation Secret Service uniform—had managed to get that close to the president. Greene should have challenged the shooter before he got that close. And once the shooter unholstered, Greene should, first, have unholstered faster; and, second, thrown himself between the shooter and his targets. Something wasn’t right there.

And what about what President Boyd had said—that there was an unfolding conspiracy going on here? Boyd had made a number of phone calls on the flight to the hospital. Maybe that was when he’d been warned there were more attacks in the offing. Was this the work of Al-Qaeda? It seemed unlikely. The shooter had red hair: he was no Arab, that was for sure.

No, this had the earmarks of an inside job. And if that was the case, Delaney’s missing gun was probably just the tip of the iceberg. Would there be strange deposits of cash into his account? Records of phone calls from his home that he’d never made? Cleverly forged photographs showing him talking to known enemies of the United States? Probably all that and more. Whoever was behind this was meticulous and well equipped. If they planned to turn Delaney into the goat here, they’d make sure he looked guilty as sin.

Moreover, if they were smart—and they seemed to be—they’d make sure he didn’t survive past the end of the day.

So. He had a choice. Turn himself in, let the mills of justice grind away, rely on the machinery of the federal justice system, pray for the best. Or trust no one, go freelance, take the fight to whoever was behind this monstrosity.

Suddenly—inexplicably—Michael Delaney found himself smiling. All his life he’d been bored easily, found himself getting depressed when things got too routine. It was only when he was behind the eight ball, scrambling for his life, that he felt truly alive.

All right, that was it. It was decided. Michael Delaney was about to become public enemy number one. So be it. If these snakes had managed to get to Fairbank, they had to have left a trail. All he had to do was find it.

The truth will set you free, right?

He stood up again. The weakness in his knees was gone now. He felt full of vigor and purpose as he headed back up the stairs the way he had come. When he reached the third floor, he walked out into a long hallway, checking signs on the doors as he walked by. Eventually he found the door he was looking for. Serology.

A plump young woman wearing a white coat sat in a chair reading a romance novel. She hurriedly tucked the book in a drawer, a slightly guilty look on her face.

“I was on break,” she said defensively.

Delaney showed her his badge, identified himself as a Secret Service officer. “I need you to do something for me,” he said. He took off his coat and rolled up his sleeve.

“Huh?”

“Draw my blood,” he said.

“Why?”

“The president of the United States was just shot and you’re sitting around reading a romance novel,” Delaney said. “That’s fine, I’m not mad. But it doesn’t really put you in a good position to be questioning what I’m up to.”

She swallowed, grabbed a vial and rubber tourniquet hose. “I see your point,” she said.

When she had finished filling a vial with Delaney’s blood, he said, “Please seal the vial, put your signature across the seal, and take the vial directly to Dr. James Bannerman and instruct him to run a chem panel and a tox screen.”

“Yes, sir,” she said.

“Then I want you to come up here, take a piece of letterhead, write on that paper precisely what you did here, find a notary down in the business office, then sign and notarize the statement.”

“What do you want me to do with it then?”

“Take the statement home with you, put it in a drawer, and don’t tell a soul. Not unless I personally clear it with you. Understood?”

“Yes, sir.”

 

IN A MATTER of minutes he was down in the lobby.

“Where were you?” demanded the fresh-faced young agent who was waiting for him. He was a young guy named Rankin who had emerged as a protégé of Mark Greene.

“Got held up,” Delaney said airily. “Where’s the car?”

Rankin walked toward the front door. A black Ford Crown Vic sat at the curb, engine idling. The two men slid into the car.

“Oh, shoot,” Delaney said.

“What?” Rankin said irritably. He was obviously eager to get his charge back to HQ with a minimum of delay.

“I was on black bag duty today. With all the confusion, I left the bag by the elevator.” Black bag duty meant he was carrying a bag containing two MP5 submachine guns and several hundred rounds of ammunition. “How about you run in there and get it for me?”

“You left the black bag in there?” Rankin said incredulously. “Hey, that’s not my problem. How about you run in there and get it.”

Rankin looked at the young agent with the steely gaze he had cultivated during his years as a sergeant in the Fifth Special Forces. “Son, while you were playing delivery boy this morning, I was busy laying my life on the line to protect the president of the United States. In so doing, I turned my ankle. Now start thinking like a Secret Service officer instead of an Egyptian cabdriver. Get your butt out there and get that bag before somebody makes off with it and kills another senior administration official.”

Rankin, white-lipped, got out of the car and stalked into the lobby of the hospital. Delaney felt only slightly bad as he slid across the seat, dropped the car in gear, and pealed out of the parking loop. He’d never liked that little brownnoser anyway.
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Situation Room, the White House

11:03 AM


ESTABLISHED BY President Kennedy after the Bay of Pigs disaster in 1961, the Situation Room had been used by every president since in times of crisis. It was the inner sanctum of the White House national security apparatus and provided the commander in chief with rapid and secure presidential communication channels for national security information. Physically it was a singularly unimpressive room, but even after two years in the White House, Mary Campos still felt a sense of awe as she entered the room.

“I’m sorry I’m late,” she said. “I just flew up from Fort Bragg.”

Everyone in the room looked at her. The members of the cabinet sitting in their red leather upholstered chairs around the large cherry-wood table showed every emotion from grim-faced determination to grief to stunned disbelief. Some were reading wire service reports, while others stared blankly into nothingness. National Security Council staff members seated just behind them were preoccupied in knots of uneasy conversation. Young military officers, the so-called Watch Team Duty officers who monitored intel and news reports, were moving in and out of the room through the side door as new intelligence came across the transom.

“There’s been another one,” a young marine captain said, holding a printout in his hand. “Number four.”

“Where?” It was the demanding voice of National Security Advisor Admiral Frank Boettke, Mary Campos’s boss.

The young officer handed him the printout. “Jesus God,” Boettke said.

“The fourth what?” Mary said.

“You didn’t hear?” Boettke said. “There’s been a truck bomb at the federal courthouse in Atlanta, a missile attack at White Sands, a mortar attack at the naval base in San Francisco, and now a train’s been derailed at the Proving Grounds in Maryland.”

“Casualties?” Campos said.

“They’re still tallying. The truck bomb killed at least thirty people. It’s a miracle more didn’t die. The others have been pretty superficial at least in terms of casualties—though the White Sands attack has burned up half a billion dollars’ worth of building and equipment, and some radiation may have leaked out.”

“I’m sorry, sir, I haven’t been briefed. Is this looking foreign or domestic?”

As Boettke prepared to answer she caught a glimpse of Morgan Boyd coming into the room with a phalanx of aides.

“That’s a question they are probably going to want you to answer,” Boettke said dryly.

Everyone rose as the new president walked into the room. The slow, painful gait brought on by his old back injury was more evident than ever. “Sit,” Boyd said, dropping into his chair. “Folks, let’s take thirty seconds to pray for Dean Fairbank.”

Thirty seconds ticked by. Mary Campos bowed her head but let her eyes drift toward Dean Fairbank’s successor. His dark hair, as always, seemed to need a trim, and his beard was so heavy that he looked in need of a shave the minute he walked out of his bathroom in the morning. The pallor of his complexion today only heightened the effect. His face was oddly asymmetrical, as though someone had squashed one side of it in a vise. His eyes were black and piercing, his nose long and thin. He looked exhausted, but undefeated, as though he were running on a mix of will and anger. His voice, however, was large, out of all proportion to his body, the deep rich baritone of a radio announcer.

“All right then,” Boyd said. “I’m sure you’ve heard what happened in excruciating detail, so let’s not waste time on gossip. I will say this, however. As Dean Fairbank’s life was fading, his thoughts were not about himself, but about his family and his country. He grabbed me by the wrist as they put him on the gurney, and he made me swear that I would bring those who perpetrated this assault to justice. We owe it to him and we owe it to Marcia.” Marcia was the assassinated president’s immensely popular wife. “And, by God, we owe it to America.”

The room was silent for a moment. Then everyone burst into applause. The danger in any transfer of authority is that at some moment of weakness, there will be a vacuum of power leaving the nation rudderless. It was clear that Morgan Boyd had no intention of allowing that to happen. An almost visible relief showed on the faces around the room. In times of crisis, nothing is more consoling than strong leadership.

“We’ll be holding a funeral for President Fairbank the day after tomorrow at 2:00 PM at Arlington National Cemetery,” the new president continued. “Our protocol folks will handle all the logistical arrangements.”

Heads nodded around the table.

Boyd placed his fists on the table and leaned forward, his face suddenly businesslike. “Okay. We have clear reason to believe that we are in the midst of a grave national emergency. Therefore, this meeting will now go into COG session.” The president looked around the room then pointed at the door. “Admiral Boettke, it’s time for you to head to Highpoint. All non-cabinet officers, please step outside.” Mary Campos rose to leave. “All non-cabinet officers except Colonel Campos. You stay.”

The major COG provisions, Mary knew, had last been updated during the cold war era when surviving a nuclear attack was the prime objective of the plan. Many of the provisions still stood. Mary’s boss, Admiral Frank Boettke, would be flying with an F-16 escort straight for a hardened facility buried deep under the mountains near Bluemont, Virginia, code-named Highpoint, where he would establish a sort of “shadow government” that could take over the reins of government in the event of some sort of catastrophic attack on Washington, DC. Additionally in Pennsylvania near Raven Rock at a base code-named Site-7, a number of senior Pentagon generals would establish a backup staff to take command of the military in the event that the Pentagon was severely attacked.

Boyd waited until the room had cleared. “As all of you know, it was determined early in the administration that the continuity of government protocols were outdated and needed revising. President Fairbank appointed me to revise and implement the new COG protocols. In fact the meeting I had with him this morning was on this very subject. We were just in the process of rolling out the new protocols. President Fairbank himself had approved them in general outline, but the executive order had not yet been signed. As my first act as president, I will now sign the new protocols.” An aide placed a leather-bound volume in front of the president. He opened and signed the document inside.

When he was finished signing the document, President Boyd looked up at the cabinet officers. “I have recruited a small team to smooth the implementation process. This team, which will be known as the Protocols and Procedures Section—some have taken to calling it Unit P—is here to assist you. I trust you will give them your fullest support.” He looked around the room. “In broad strokes the new COG protocols are intended to serve the same functions as they always did, to provide survivability and operational continuity of the core operations of our government. I think you will find most changes to be fairly minor. Unit P will be a Justice function on par with the FBI or Secret Service and as such under the authority of the attorney general. That said, however, there may be some resistance to following certain details of the plan. In the event you have questions about particular provisions or instructions, Unit P members will be final arbiters. Their word has the force of my office behind it. Is that clear?”

Heads nodded uncertainly around the table.

“You’ll notice, ladies and gentlemen, that in addition to Colonel Campos, one other non-cabinet member has remained. I think you all know John Rancy, my legal advisor.”

A tall, lean man with bright blue eyes looked around the room.

“I depend on John a great deal and will need his assistance,” the new president continued. “He was, in fact, instrumental in drawing up the new COG procedures.” Boyd turned and looked at the attorney general of the United States, Sheila Evans. “Attorney General Evans, this is in no way a reflection of your competence, but I am now relieving you of your position as attorney general. Mr. Rancy will be taking your place in an ex officio capacity, pending senatorial approval. Painful as it is to do this, I am going to have to be making some swift, sure legal decisions and as a result I will need the assistance of someone I’ve worked with for a long time and who understands me intuitively. The United States thanks you for your excellent service, Ms. Evans. I apologize to you and to your family for the abruptness of this move, but I feel it is unavoidable.”

The room was silent.

“You mean…,” she said finally.

“Yes,” Morgan Boyd said. “I’m afraid so.”

All eyes watched as the stunned attorney general walked slowly across the room and out the door.

Secretary of State Solomon Fordyce raised his hand tentatively. “Mr. President, with all due respect, COG is all about maintenance of existing structures. Doesn’t it seem a little early to be implementing major personnel changes?”

“The new COG protocols,” Boyd said, “are all about chain of command. And the preservation thereof. As I’m sure we’re all aware, there’s always a shakeout period when a new president replaces an old one. In this adminstration I expect—no, I demand—your honest opinions prior to the making of presidential decisions. Once I make a decision, unproductive second-guessing and backward-looking chitchat will not be tolerated.” He gazed around the room. “Sometimes members of the administration or the bureaucracy feel compelled to test the resolve and authority of the new guy. Well, folks, the shakeout period is officially over.” He looked around the room, still smiling distantly. “Clear?”

“Yes, Mr. President,” the abashed Fordyce said.

“Good. First order of business, Admiral Boettke, you’ll be taking command of Bravo team, as per COG procedures. Please proceed immediately to your post at Highpoint.”

Admiral Boettke rose and marched swiftly out of the room.

“All right, now to get down to business. The reason I’m taking such precipitous action is that we just lost the highest elected official in the country, and came inches away from losing the second highest. We are currently subject to an unfolding wave of attacks. Someone wished to decapitate the nation. I will not let that happen. In fact, I am deploying U.S. military forces around the country to forestall further attacks. Mr. Rancy, if you would, please brief the room.”

Rancy stood. “The strike against the presidency was highly sophisticated.” He had a high, clear Irish tenor and a peculiar halting quality to his speech, like someone who had almost—but not quite—mastered a childhood stutter. “Intel, obviously, is still coming in, but indications are that these terrorists have at their disposal a wide variety of weapons including precision-guided munitions and large quantities of highly explosive materials. They are coordinated and effective. Fortunately loss of life—thus far—has not been on the order of 9/11. But the scale of the attacks appears to be much larger and, frankly, a great deal more sophisticated. And their tentacles reach much deeper.”

“Are you suggesting that there’s some sort of…conspiracy?” asked the secretary of defense, Adam Robinson.

“Yes. Early evidence indicates that the attack at Camp David had inside assistance.”

“What kind of inside assistance?”

“I’m afraid I can’t reveal that at this moment.”

The Sec Def was not used to hearing those words. “I trust we’ll be briefed in more detail shortly,” he said sharply.

“Of course.” Rancy smiled smoothly. “Now, President Boyd and I have consulted and he has determined that we will need to set up an official inquiry to coordinate the investigation into these attacks. I will be heading that inquiry. Colonel Campos, since this is your area of expertise, I want you to find out everything you can about the shooter and whom he might be connected to. The FBI will get you up to speed.”

Boyd rose. “Thank you, John. I will be outlining the details of my plans over the next several days. Using the new COG protocols, I plan to use broad executive powers until this situation is stabilized. If any of you, upon review of the plans, can’t support my actions, I’ll expect your immediate resignation.”

The secretary of defense spoke again. “Mr. President, did I understand you to say that you intended to deploy military forces inside the borders of the United States?”

“Yes, you did.”

The secretary of defense was a longtime politician who had served both in Congress and in a number of administrations. He had not moved up the political food chain by throwing himself on too many grenades. He cleared his throat. “I assume you’ve got John working on the Posse Commitatus issue?”

Boyd looked at his new attorney general. “John?”

“That’s actually been a major part of the legal end of the new COG work. For those of you unfamiliar with the issue, the Posse Commitatus Act of 1878 prohibits the deployment of regular military troops within the borders of the United States. Notwithstanding the 1878 act, certain narrowly proscribed deployments have been made since that time. We believe that we’ve got ample precedent to allow deployment. Nevertheless we’ll be conferring with Congress shortly in order to pass legislation to establish a nice bright statutory line within which the military may operate.”

“I haven’t seen these new COG protocols myself,” said Larry Rhine, the labor secretary, who was generally considered to be the most liberal member of the cabinet. “What are we talking about here? I trust we’re not talking star courts and suspension of habeas corpus.”

Without blinking, Rancy said, “There are a number of fairly aggressive measures contained in the plan. And, yes, habeas corpus is one of them. But naturally that would be used only in the most extreme cases.”

The labor secretary shook his head in wonderment. “Is this a matter for discussion, Mr. President? Or has the decision been made? I must be honest—this spooks me a little.”

“Now is not the time for Nervous Nellies, Larry,” the president snapped. He looked toward the door as an aide entered the room and tentatively handed him a note. Boyd read the note and looked up. “Another bomb just went off in Los Angeles—outside a major movie studio in Burbank, more specifically. Thirteen people were killed and a major movie studio flattened.” The room was silent. “Larry, people are dying on the streets of our country as we speak. Now is the time for decisive action. If we do overreach a little, we’ll pull back after we’ve stopped the bleeding.”

John Rancy leaned forward. “Trust me, Larry, any of these more…extreme…tools will be used very surgically, very sparingly.”

The labor secretary clamped his mouth shut. He was obviously not happy with the measures. But equally obviously, he was not prepared to fight a losing battle against the new president on the issue.

“Anyone else?” the president said.

No one answered. “Good. Then Colonel Campos and Mr. Rancy will move forward with the investigation. Defense Secretary Robinson, please stay and we’ll start ironing out the mobilization issue. The rest of you, get back to your posts. Protocols and Procedures Section will be contacting your shortly with specifics on COG implementation.”

As Mary Campos rose to leave, John Rancy approached her and said, “I’ll need you to join me. We’re taking the chopper back out to Camp David. The FBI is setting up a temporary command post to supervise the investigation. We’ll get briefed on their progress, and inform them who’s running the show.”

Mary nodded vaguely. She was still feeling blindsided by the speed with which President Boyd was moving. Something about the whole business concerned her. She was a dyed-in-the-wool conservative who had spent her entire adult life in uniform. But the idea of American troops in the streets of America made her very uneasy—American troops who, if she had understood Rancy correctly, might well be empowered to pull people from their homes and hold them without charges and without access to a lawyer.

“Let me grab my things,” she said. “I’ll meet you at the chopper.”
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